Invertebrate traps and DNA – literature review

Survey of sample preservatives compatible with DNA analysis

First published 06 May 2022

Natural England Commissioned Report NECR423



www.gov.uk/natural-england

Natural England Commissioned Report NECR423

Invertebrate traps and DNA – literature review

Helen C. Rees



Published 06 May 2022

This report is published by Natural England under the Open Government Licence -OGLv3.0 for public sector information. You are encouraged to use, and reuse, information subject to certain conditions. For details of the licence visit Copyright. Natural England photographs are only available for non-commercial purposes. If any other information such as maps or data cannot be used commercially this will be made clear within the report.

ISBN: 978-1-78354-935-1

© Natural England 2022

Project details

This report should be cited as: REES, H.C. 2022 *Invertebrate traps and DNA – literature review.* Natural England Commissioned Reports, Number 423.

Natural England Project manager

Debbie Leatherland debbie.leatherland@naturalengland.org.uk

Contractor

RSK ADAS Ltd.

Author

Dr Helen C. Rees helen.rees@adas.co.uk

Keywords

DNA, Invertebrate, Malaise trap, Pitfall trap, Vane trap

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the following individuals who contributed to this literature review by completing a questionnaire about their current invertebrate trapping practices: Ben Price (Natural History Museum); Dan Read (Centre for Ecology and Hydrology); Lyndall Pereira de Conceicoa (Sanger); Naomi Jones (FERA). We also thank Debbie Leatherland, David Heaver, and Katie Clark for their comments and suggestions.

Further information

This report can be downloaded from the Natural England Access to Evidence Catalogue: <u>http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/</u>. For information on Natural England publications contact the Natural England Enquiry Service on 0300 060 3900 or e-mail <u>enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk</u>.

Foreword

DNA – based methods offer a significant opportunity to change how we monitor and assess biodiversity. However, for most techniques, there is still much development required before they can be used in routine monitoring. Natural England has been exploring the further use of these methods for environmental monitoring for several years, delivering a series of reports which focus on the development of DNA-based methods with potential in a particular area.

Proof of concept studies have demonstrated that DNA has the ability to change the way some of our terrestrial invertebrate monitoring is carried out, but that a thorough review of peer reviewed, and grey literature was required around sampling techniques (particularly focused on traps) and subsequent laboratory processes for DNA analysis, to allow field guidance to be produced with recommended techniques, preservatives and length of time in traps.

This project carried out the literature review, and also provides an understanding of the associated strengths and weaknesses of the different techniques and provides options for practical testing and gap filling.

Executive summary

A targeted literature review was carried out to investigate methods for terrestrial invertebrate sampling for use with DNA analysis techniques. The aim of the review was to investigate the current state of knowledge for the sampling and preservation of terrestrial invertebrates and compare and assess these methods. The review included studies that had been subject to peer review along with grey literature and personal communications from individuals within organisations known to carry out terrestrial invertebrate sampling. The findings of the review indicate that propylene glycol may better preserve DNA for downstream applications than ethanol despite general consensus that 100% ethanol is the best preservative, although this statement is made with caution as the sample number was small. In general, there was considerable variation between methods at every stage in the process and information which could have been useful for example biotic and abiotic factors was most often not included. Several studies did not state the concentration of the preservative used, the sampling duration, or included information on long term storage conditions, all of which would have provided valuable insight into the potential reproducibility of the studies. Options for practical method testing are given with a view to the standardisation of trapping methods currently used by Natural England.

Contents

Invertebrate traps and DNA – literature review
Project details
Natural England Project manager
Contractor3
Author3
Keywords3
Acknowledgements
Further information
Foreword4
Executive summary5
1. Introduction8
1.1 Invertebrate Identification8
1.2 Invertebrate Traps9
1.3 Aims and Objectives11
2. Methods12
2.1 Database selection12
2.2 Defining the questions to be addressed during the review.
2.3 Search Terms12
2.4 Title Screening13
2.5 Abstract/Methods Screening14
2.6 Literature screening14
3. Results
3.1 Literature Review16
3.2 General outcomes of the literature review17
3.3 Personal Communications20

4. Discussion	21
4.1 Assessment of existing studies	21
4.2 Concluding statements	26
5. Further Work	27
5.1 Proposed follow up studies	27
List of tables	29
List of figures	30
Bibliography	31

1. Introduction

Natural England is the Government's advisor for the natural environment. It provides practical advice on how to safeguard England's natural wealth for the benefit of everyone. ADAS is an environmental consultancy which exists to provide ideas, specialist knowledge and solutions to secure our food and enhance the environment.

DNA based methods could significantly change how biodiversity monitoring and assessment is carried out with potential benefits including making the process more efficient and removing potential ambiguity that might be associated with conventional taxonomic classification. There are well over 30,000 different species of invertebrates in the UK (Key *et al.*, 2000) and it can take many years to become an expert on species identification. Natural England would therefore, like to evaluate the different methods that have been reported for terrestrial invertebrate sampling for use with DNA techniques by way of a targeted literature review of both peer reviewed and grey literature. Sampling and preservation methods need to be compatible with downstream DNA analysis techniques such as species and community identification via DNA barcoding and metabarcoding.

1.1 Invertebrate Identification

Insects are one of the most diverse and numerous animal groups and their identification can be both painstaking and resource-demanding (Hernandez 2020). Traditionally, taxonomic research projects or biomonitoring campaigns would involve collection of invertebrates, sorting, and species identification followed by an analysis of the results. Sorting is time consuming, however, it is the species identification which causes bottlenecks as this requires taxonomic expertise for each insect group requiring examination. DNA based methods have the potential to address this identification bottleneck and is usually based on analysis of a short (658bp) fragment of the Cytochrome oxidase I (COI) gene, known as DNA barcoding (Hebert et al., 2003). DNA barcoding can help with the identification of cryptic species and different life stages and can greatly reduce the sample processing time (Hebert et al., 2004; Janzen et al., 2009; Telfer et al., 2015). To be able to use DNA for species identification global reference databases such as BOLD (Hebert and Ratnasingham 2007) have been developed in collaboration with taxonomists covering all groups of organisms. More recently, the development of high throughput sequencing methods, or metabarcoding, has allowed the identification of whole communities such as that found in a trap catch (Pompanon et al., 2011; Riaz et al., 2011; Taberlet et al., 2012).

To be able to identify species by their DNA, the specimens need to be collected in such a way that prevents the DNA from degrading from the time the specimen is caught to the time the sample can be analysed – a period that can be measured in days to weeks and - usually entailing the use of a preservative solution. Traditionally, insects have been preserved in 70% ethanol for taxonomic identification (Martin 1977), however, it has been shown that long term storage (many years) in 70% ethanol can lead to DNA degradation

making DNA extraction and PCR amplification problematic (Baird *et al.*, 2011, Carew *et al.*, 2017). Preservation of insects in 95-99% ethanol which would preserve the DNA well can lead to insects becoming brittle and more difficult to work with if required for taxonomic identification as well (King and Porter, 2004). There is therefore a balance that needs to be found between being able to preserve good quality DNA with a method that also allows the preservation of delicate specimens for conventional taxonomic identification. It is hoped that the need for this balance will be infrequent as sequence libraries are improved and DNA techniques are further developed. This review identifies current practices in insect collection and preservation and evaluates the suitability of these for the isolation of good quality non-degraded DNA for further analysis.

1.2 Invertebrate Traps

Invertebrates are often collected to track shifts in community composition and temporal succession for example such as the Global Malaise Trap Program (Geiger *et al.*, 2016) a worldwide collection and DNA barcode identification program using this sampling method. There are a variety of methods used for the collection of terrestrial invertebrates including: hand collection; sweep netting; and trapping. Currently, Natural England employs the use of pitfall traps, vane traps (flight interception traps), and on occasion, Malaise traps in their current biodiversity monitoring and assessment as well as sweep nets and other hand collecting.

Pitfall Traps

A pitfall trap is a simple device used to collect small animals, usually invertebrates. The simplest format of a pitfall trap is a buried container with its top level to the ground. Animals wandering by fall into the trap and are unable to climb back out. There are many modifications that can be made, including the use of roofs – leaving a gap to allow animals to fall in – the use of walkways (lollipop sticks) across the trap, and fences to stop larger animals wandering into the trap. Pitfall traps are either wet – containing a solution designed to kill and preserve the specimens – or dry but can also contain a lure/bait.

Vane Traps

Vane traps in the style generally used by Natural England consists of intersecting panels of Perspex, connected through a funnel to a screw-on collecting bottle. A Perspex roof slots on top of the panels and a layer of chicken wire is laid between the bottom of the panels and the top of the funnel to stop unwanted objects falling into the bottle and act as a barrier to larger animals (Figure 1C). Rope is used to attach the vane traps to suitable trees providing a vertical barrier to insect flight that is thought to be invisible to them. On collision with the panel, beetles and other insects will often drop down and fall into the collection bottle.

Malaise Traps

Malaise traps (Malaise, 1937) are widely used for insect collection and are based on a large tent like structure for the trapping, killing, and preserving of flying insects. Insects fly into the wall of the tent and are then funnelled into a collection bottle at its highest point. Traps must be located such that a maximum number of flying insects will pass through the opening, for example high vegetation around this opening can limit the number of flying insects per day (Gressitt and Gressitt 1962).



Figure 1. Example of: A. Malaise trap (© Jo Hackman); B. a pitfall trap (© Adrian Gardiner), and C. a vane trap (© Jon Webb) installed within a hollow in an oak tree.





1.3 Aims and Objectives

This study set out to perform a targeted literature review that would explore the current state of knowledge and best practice regarding the different steps involved in terrestrial invertebrate sampling for DNA monitoring especially in the context of pitfall traps (Figure 2). This information was used to perform an assessment and comparison of the studies found where the likelihood of errors, confidence in results and potential for optimisation and standardisation for different applications. Suggestions for practical method testing and validation including risks and benefits and estimated costs have been made. This report details the methodology employed in this study and the results obtained before comparison and assessment of these results along with recommendations for studies to test any potential optimisation and standardisation of the methods found.

2. Methods

2.1 Database selection

Several literature databases were used, including: Pubmed; Web of Science; Science Direct; and Google Scholar. Grey literature was sourced by applying search terms to the Google search engine. Various individuals within organisations known to carry out terrestrial invertebrate sampling and subsequent DNA analysis were also contacted with a list of questions to determine the methods that they use.

2.2 Defining the questions to be addressed during the review.

The following broad questions were used to define the literature search terms.

- a. Does the study involve samples collected via trapping?
- b. Does the study contain DNA methodology?
- c. Does the study involve invertebrates?

2.3 Search Terms

A preliminary search of the databases using search terms: DNA; invertebrate; and terrestrial was carried out. Individual terms and combined terms were used to assess how many results each would return to gauge how focused the results would be and how many results would be returned. During the literature review search terms were modified and additional searches performed to ensure that all relevant articles were found. Therefore, when sourcing articles that would be used in the final review the following searches were applied:

- 1. 'DNA AND (invertebrate OR insect) AND (pitfall trap OR vane trap OR malaise trap) NOT bacteria NOT microbial NOT mammal NOT virus NOT yeast'
- 2. 'DNA AND (invertebrate OR insect) AND (ethanol or ethyl alcohol) NOT bacteria NOT microbial NOT mammal NOT virus NOT yeast'
- 3. 'DNA AND (invertebrate OR insect) AND (propylene glycol OR propane-1,2-diol) NOT bacteria NOT microbial NOT mammal NOT virus NOT yeast'

Google Scholar and the Google search engine require the use of additional search terms to reduce the number of results being returned. For Google Scholar and the Google search engine the search terms are entered as follows noting that for the Google search engine the file type selected was PDF and the language 'English' to reduce the number of results:

- 1. DNA AND (invertebrate OR insect) AND ("pitfall trap" OR "vane trap" OR "malaise trap") -bacteria -microbial -mammal -virus -yeast'
- 2. 'DNA AND (invertebrate OR insect) AND (ethanol or "ethyl alcohol") -bacteria microbial -mammal -virus -yeast'

3. 'DNA AND (invertebrate OR insect) AND ("propylene glycol" OR "propane-1,2-diol") -bacteria -microbial -mammal -virus -yeast'

Search Terms	PubMed	Web of Science	Science Direct	Google Scholar	Google	Total
DNA AND (invertebrate OR insect) AND (pitfall trap OR vane trap OR malaise trap) NOT bacteria NOT microbial NOT mammal NOT virus NOT yeast	23	145	270	777 selected for inclusion [*]	292	1,507
DNA AND (invertebrate OR insect) AND (ethanol or ethyl alcohol) NOT bacteria NOT microbial NOT mammal NOT virus NOT yeast	199	631	440	676 selected for inclusion [*]	95	2,041
DNA AND (invertebrate OR insect) AND (propylene glycol OR propane-1,2-diol) NOT bacteria NOT microbial NOT mammal NOT virus NOT yeast	3	21	198	280 selected for inclusion [*]	118	620
Total	225	797	908	1,733	505	4,168

Table 1. Results returned from a search of various databases and the Google search engine (databases accessed 21/10/2021).

^{*} Google Scholar search results were manually selected for inclusion into Endnote as there is no feature to export all results.

2.4 Title Screening

Once results were generated from each database, search results titles were exported into Endnote reference manager software, except for Google Scholar where results were manually selected as there is no feature to export all results. The duplicate removal feature was applied followed by manually reading titles to remove any duplicates that were missed. The remaining titles were read to determine if each individual manuscript/piece of literature would be of use in the review using a set of inclusion and exclusion criteria (Table 2).

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Manuscripts that contain primary data.	Manuscripts which are published in languages other than English.
Studies that focus on terrestrial invertebrates.	Review papers.
Studies that contain DNA methodologies.	Any studies which are based on vertebrates, bacteria/fungi/algae.
Studies that use trapping for sample provision.	

Table 2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria used within this review.

2.5 Abstract/Methods Screening

Once the inclusion/exclusion criteria had been applied to the titles, the abstracts/methods of each article was read using both key words and the inclusion/exclusion criteria to decide which to retain. Methods were also screened because trapping was not always mentioned in the abstract. This process allowed for the removal of articles where titles suggest they were suitable for review but are outside the bounds of the inclusion/exclusion criteria. Key words included: DNA; invertebrate; pitfall trap; Malaise trap; vane trap; and preservative.

2.6 Literature screening

The full articles were critiqued by assessing specific variables. Using Thalinger et al., (2021) as a guide, a list of variables was generated to allow relevant information to be extracted from each study to allow for comparison and assessment of each method. Thalinger et al., (2021) describes the measures and tests required for successful validation of targeted eDNA assays some of which are relevant here.

- a. Does the study state the type of trap used?
- b. Does the study state what preservative was used in the trap?
- c. Does the study state how long were specimens in traps before analysis/how often are samples collected?
- d. Does the study state what preservative/storage conditions are used post sample collection?
- e. Does the study contain any information on biotic (abundance, biomass, life stages etc.) or abiotic (temperature etc.) factors?
- f. Does the study use destructive sampling?
- g. Does the study state what DNA extraction methods are used?

- h. Does the study contain control samples?
- i. Does the study utilize mock communities?
- j. Does the study state what primers (probes) are used?
- k. Does the study state what gene is being targeted and amplicon size?
- I. Does the study contain PCR set up and cycling information?
- m. Does the study detail PCR product purification/quantification?
- n. Does the study state the success rate of amplification?
- o. Does the study involve metabarcoding?
 - i. Does the study contain information on library preparation?
 - ii. Does the study contain information on the sequencing?
 - iii. Does the study state the sequencing depth/number of reads per sample?
 - iv. Does the study contain bioinformatics?
 - v. Does the study provide the bioinformatic workflow (names/methods)?
 - vi. Does the study use a custom DNA database?
 - vii. Does the study provide open access to their data?
- p. What are the conclusions of the study?

3. Results

3.1 Literature Review

The in-depth literature search (including grey literature) revealed a total of 4,168 results which were obtained from PubMed, Web of Science, Science Direct, and Google Scholar. From this 2,293 were removed as duplicates by the Endnote reference manager, with a further 28 being removed manually. Screening of the titles led to 649 results being removed and a further 1,110 from screening of the abstract/methods. Peer reviewed papers and other documents found during the grey literature search were removed during the abstract/methods screening for the following reasons: no information on preservatives used despite use of trapping; no DNA analysis; use of museum specimens and/or reared or cultured specimens; use of netting; despite stating the preservative, no information on trapping supplied or no trapping performed for example specimens placed directly into preservative; and finally documents that were superseded by peer reviewed papers for example conference presentations or MPhil/PhD theses and dissertations. Two papers were kept despite not using trapping - rather they used hand searching - as they discussed the use of different preservatives prior to DNA analysis. This left 88 result to be assessed (Figure 3). Personal communications from contact with various individuals within organisations known to carry out terrestrial invertebrate trapping are not included within this figure, but their responses can be found within Supplementary data file 1 and are included in section 3.3 below and within the discussion section.



Figure 3. The collection of the literature to be reviewed. Initial collection of 4,168 papers was reduced to a final number of 88 through removal of duplicates and screening of titles, abstracts, and methods sections.

3.2 General outcomes of the literature review

Of the 88 papers found during the literature review, 48% used Malaise traps, 30% pitfall traps, 8% vane/flight interception traps, and the rest other traps such as funnel traps and pan traps (some studies used more than one trapping method). The preservatives used in the studies are summarised in Table 3 (see also Supplementary data file 1) with the majority using ethanol (of varying concentrations); followed by propylene glycol (varying concentrations); then soapy water or other preservatives (which in practice are rarely used – personal communications).

Preservative		Malaise Trap	Pitfall Trap	Vane/flight interception Trap	Other	Totals
Ethanol	20-50%	0	0	1	1	2
	70-84%	12	2	0	2	16
	85-94%	6	1	0	1	8
	95-100%	18	4	1	3	26
	Concentration not stated	6	1	0	0	7
Total using e	Total using ethanol					
Propylene glycol	20-50%	1	0	1	1	3
	50-77%	0	5	1	1	7
	95-100%	1	4	0	4	9
	Concentration not stated	2	7	3	4	16
Total using p	propylene glycol	•	•	•	•	35
Ethylene glycol	5%	0	1	0	0	1
	10%	1	1	0	0	2
	50%	0	0	1	0	1
	100%	0	0	0	1	1
	Concentration not stated	1	2	1	4	8
Total using ethylene glycol						13
Soapy water		2	2	1	1	6
Total using s	soapy water					6
Other	Not stated	1	0	0	0	1

	Glycol	1	0	1	0	2
	2.5% Acetic acid	0	1	0	0	1
	5% Acetic acid	0	1	0	0	1
	30% Acetic acid	0	0	0	1	1
	3% formalin	0	0	0	1	1
	10% sodium benzoate	0	0	0	1	1
	Distilled water	0	1	0	1	2
	Low salt	0	1	1	1	3
	Saturated salt solution	0	0	0	1	1
	10% Glycerin	0	0	0	1	1
	50% vinegar	0	1	0	0	1
	3% copper sulphate	0	0	1	1	2
	20% DMSO	0	0	0	1	1
	RNA later	0	0	0	1	1
	Dry/No preservative	1	0	1	0	2
Total using other preservatives					22	

Table 3. Summary of the different sampling methods and the preservatives used within them. Note that some documents used more than one trapping method and/or more than one preservative.

The most common length of time samples were left in the traps prior to sample collection when using ethanol or propylene glycol as the preservative was 1 or 2 weeks (Figure 4), however, samples were collected in as little as one day (Gruber *et al.*, 2013; Koch *et al.*, 2015; Thormann *et al.*, 2016) or as long as 90 days in a simulated pitfall trapping experiment (Rubink *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 4. Bar chart showing the length of time that samples were left in the traps prior to sample collection.

Post collection 92% of all samples were either kept in the ethanol used in the trap or where other trapping preservatives were used - such as propylene glycol - were transferred into \geq 70% ethanol for storage prior to molecular analysis. Storage ranged from room temperature (9%), in the fridge at 4°C (11%), or at ⁻20°C (27%), with the remainder not stating storage temperature (53%).

71 of the studies employed destructive sampling with one of these also analysing the ethanol preservative. Two studies specifically stated using non-destructive sampling via a tissue lysis method and the remainder did not state whether destructive sampling was used or not. 28 of the studies carried out DNA extraction using the DNeasy blood and tissue kit (Qiagen), 14 did not state what DNA extraction methods were used, and the remainder were other DNA extraction methods most of which were used by only one study.

In terms of the primers used for PCR amplification (note that some studies use multiple target genes), most studies use primers for mitochondrial genes: COI (68, most for 658bp barcode); 16S (10); 28S (6); 18S (6); other mtDNA (9). A few studies used microsatellite DNA (3), and a few did not state what primers were used (7).

Although few studies stated the PCR and/or sequencing success rates (21 of 88), there was considerable variation in PCR success rates for both those samples initially collected in ethanol (60.5%-100%) and in propylene glycol (65%-100%). Two additional studies that used either ethylene glycol (Lucas *et al.*, 2016) or soapy water (Villalta *et al.*, 2021) as initial preservative, recorded 72% and 83% PCR success rate respectively. For those studies that stated their PCR and/or sequencing success rates, propylene glycol and ethanol concentrations varied from 50 to 100% and 40 to 96% respectively. Samples left in

the trap for 1 week prior to collection saw success rates of 78-100% for propylene glycol (Dopheide *et al.*, 2019; Gibson *et al.*, 2012; Lantero *et al.*, 2019) and 81-91% for ethanol (Aagaard *et al.*, 2017; deWaard *et al.*, 2019a/b; D'Souza *et al.*, 2021). Samples left in the trap for 2 weeks prior to collection saw success rates of 100% for propylene glycol (Rees *et al.*, unpublished) and 64-76% for ethanol (Uscanga *et al.*, 2020). The lowest stated success rates were for 75% propylene glycol with samples left in the traps for 3 days or 96% ethanol with samples left in the traps for 4 weeks. Of note, was that a 92% solution of propylene glycol (containing 5% water and 3% proprietary additives) left for 90 days was still able to produce success rates of 91-100% (Rubink *et al.*, 2003) although this was under simulated conditions rather than in the field.

The studies mainly used the samples for: sequencing analysis (64); followed by metabarcoding analysis (17); other molecular analysis such as gel electrophoresis (6); or did not use DNA analysis (1). This final study was included as it investigates the use of different preservatives within pitfall traps (McCravy *et al.*, 2007).

3.3 Personal Communications

Several individuals from organisations known to study terrestrial invertebrates were contacted to understand the methods that are currently being used within UK based survey work. Their responses indicated that all use ethanol (of varying concentrations) as the preservative within their traps (soapy water was also used in water traps by FERA). Some respondents were or had investigated the use of propylene glycol stating that it appeared to work well and did not have any of the safety issues of ethanol but that it was more difficult to work with (de Conceicoa, L). Samples were collected within 24 hours to one week and were stored in ethanol in the fridge at 4°C or ⁻20°C. Three out of four responders used destructive sampling of the whole specimen or the legs and one performed non-destructive tissue lysis. Again, the DNeasy blood and tissue kit (Qiagen) was used by half of the responders and one group used methods developed within their own team at Sanger. All perform PCR analysis with COI primers for barcoding and/or metabarcoding.

4. Discussion

4.1 Assessment of existing studies

Effective sampling: This review was focused on the preservation of terrestrial invertebrates mainly collected by Malaise, pitfall, and vane/flight interception traps but also included some other methods such as pan trapping (all passive methods of collection). Malaise traps are one of the most widely used devices for collecting insects and this was reflected in the results where nearly half of the studies used this method. It was also noted that small differences in the design of Malaise traps can influence the 'catch' illustrating that where region comparisons are being made a standard trap design needs to be adopted (D'Souza *et al.*, 2021).

Although one of the simplest types of insect collection device, there was a lack of consensus in the size and design of pitfall traps. Some studies used roofs a small distance above the ground to prevent rainfall from entering the trap which could have the effect of diluting the preservative as was likely the case for those studies who did not state the use of a roof, whilst minimising the catch of vertebrates (for example Framenau *et al.*, 2014). Other studies included: a round plastic mesh around each trap (Liu *et al.*, 2020a); or inserted funnels into the traps which also reduced evaporation (Ghofer *et al.*, 2015; Price, B. personal communication), or used snap on lids with holes in (Higgins, 2019) to prevent the catch of vertebrates. One study used a 'constellation' of 5 plastic cups connected by wooden walkways to increase the efficiency of the traps by diverting wandering invertebrates that contact the walkways into the traps (Marrone *et al.*, 2014). Trap design is therefore one variable that can be standardised for all trapping methods for example using an accepted pitfall trap design across all studies with the recommendation of using a roof to prevent rainfall ingress, although this will influence the catch.

Trap design is an important consideration in invertebrate sampling as traps need to be able to catch as wide a range of taxa as possible. As trap design can influence the catch, this could be an important area for further investigation so that the most appropriate trapping devices are deployed. If trap designs could be standardised it would allow for easier comparisons between and within sampling locations, however care would need to be taken to ensure that traps chosen for use were available for all in terms of expense and practicality.

Choice of preservative: The effectiveness of any preservative used at the point of trapping is likely to be one of the most important factors for success in DNA-based invertebrate analysis as it must maintain the integrity of the DNA (Stein *et al.*, 2013). From personal communications with scientists who are currently carrying out such analysis there was a consensus that 100% ethanol will always 'preserve the DNA the best' this is because if the concentration of ethanol is high enough (\geq 95%) it will denature any proteins (nucleases) that would normally degrade DNA (Flournoy *et al.*, 1996). Ethanol based preservation methods were therefore very common in articles used in this review. A recent review by Liu *et al.*, (2020b), identified >95% ethanol as the preservative used in the

majority of DNA metabarcoding studies carried out between 2015 and 2019. Ethanol is however, rarely used in practice as the licenses for purchase in any quantity are very difficult to obtain and ethanol has more health and safety requirements than other preservatives such as propylene glycol.

The results of this literature review suggest that PCR and/or sequencing success rates are higher when using propylene glycol as a preservative compared with ethanol. However, considering the low number of articles that specifically detail the success rates this should be taken with some caution as this is a very small sample number. Other preservatives which have been used in a small number of the studies include ethylene glycol (antifreeze), ethanol at less than 70%, soapy water (rarely used in practice – personal communications), and dimethyl sulphoxide, these are known to be less suitable for DNA preservation and so should be avoided (Vink *et al.*, 2005; Moreau *et al.*, 2013).

With respect to studies using pitfall traps twice as many used propylene glycol as used ethanol. Propylene glycol is cheap to purchase, easily found, and restriction free. Ethanol use may be more limited because of its higher cost, and the challenges associated when using ethanol especially for larger studies where many litres of preservative could be required. These challenges may include; the volatility of ethanol – ethanol will evaporate over time requiring frequent topping up and the difficulties in procuring and safely transporting ethanol. The evaporation of ethanol can be ameliorated to some extent using a funnel, this has two-fold benefits in reducing evaporation and preventing vertebrates from falling into the trap (Price, B. personal communications).

There are other practical limitations of field use of preservatives as they can have an attraction/repulsion to certain taxa. Depending on the target taxa this effect will either have a positive or a negative effect on the data leading to differences in numbers and species captured (McCravy and Willand 2007). It is therefore important that consideration of catch biases due to chemical attractant/repellent are made prior to preservative choice so that the taxa of interest can be preferentially selected. The choice of preservative could also influence the species complexity during subsequent metabarcoding analysis. It has previously been reported that some species will regurgitate/vomit into the preservative on trapping, in part explaining why some species/groups were only found in the ethanol preservative when compared with bulk samples (Marquina *et al.* 2019).

Further investigation as to the suitability of preservatives could involve the comparison of ethanol and propylene glycol to answer the following questions: 1) are UK found specimens sufficiently intact for taxonomic identification; 2) is good quality long length DNA present for downstream DNA analysis; 3) is there any bias in the preservation of material i.e. is there good penetration of the preservative whether a large or a small specimen?; 4) do any gains in points 1-4 justify the expense (approximately 4 times the price of propylene glycol) and inconvenience of a more costly preservative such as ethanol. When using ethanol there are health and safety issues to consider as ecologists would need to be able to safely store and transfer the ethanol. Both preservatives could be tested side by side over the same timescales using multiple traps per timepoint within the same sampling site. Any collection (on a statistically large enough scale) would also be able to compare the species collected to determine if there was likely to be any sampling

bias created by the different preservatives (chemo- attractants or repellents). Ethanol and propylene glycol concentrations could be measured post sampling to ensure that they are high enough to preserve the specimens. Up to 80% ethanol can be measured with a hydrometer, and up to 95% propylene glycol via a refractometer or hydrometer.

Post sampling there was a consensus that samples should be stored in \geq 75% ethanol. Those that were collected in ethanol were generally left in the collection solution unless they were being transferred into a higher concentration of ethanol. Samples collected in other preservatives were also generally transferred into ethanol for storage. It has been demonstrated that samples that have been stored in 95% ethanol and subsequently stored for 8 months in either 75 or 95% ethanol at ambient or ⁻20°C generate good quality DNA (Corriveau *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, we would recommend that ethanol (\geq 75%) should be used post sampling for sample storage.

A measure of preservation provided by the chosen preservative is the subsequent PCR and/or sequencing success rate. Success rates tended to be stated in studies where barcoding of specimens was carried out, however, the number of studies stating this was relatively low (21 out of 88 studies). If these had been stated more often (PCR and/or sequencing success rate) this would have allowed for a much more robust comparison of trapping methods and their preservatives. Further investigations could measure the PCR success rate by demonstrating the presence of amplifiable fragments of different sizes, the reaction Cq values could also be compared to controls and may give additional information as to the relative amounts of amplifiable DNA that is present between samples collected using different preservatives. The use of different lengths PCR amplicons may be useful in demonstrating the success or otherwise of the methods in preserving the best quality (longer length) DNA samples. Likewise, the use of low percentage agarose gel electrophoresis could check for the integrity of high molecular weight genomic DNA. An indication of degradation (maybe over time and for each preservative types) might be indicated by a smear of lower molecular weight DNA species.

Time: There was a lack of consensus in the length of time traps were left with the most common sampling regimes being 1 or 2 weeks with ethanol or propylene glycol as preservative. Several of the shorter sampling regimes (1-3 days) used soapy water (Ballare et al., 2019; Koch et al., 2015; Pyle 2018; Telfer et al., 2015; and Villalta et al., 2015), primarily as the killing agent. The use of soapy water is not recommended here as a DNA preservation agent and it is not often used in practice, a drop of detergent is often added to the trap preservative to break the surface tension over the preservative solution. For short sampling regimes (1 day) soapy water would be a very cheap and safe alternative to propylene glycol and ethanol and if specimens were transferred to $\geq 95\%$ ethanol upon collection of the trap, DNA should still be suitably preserved for molecular analysis. In addition, soapy water is unlikely to suffer from biases associated with chemical attractants/repellents. It is not clear from this review whether there would be a difference in preservation/degradation between specimens that fall into the trap early on and those that fall into the trap later during the sampling period. There have been many published studies on preserved museum specimens (not included within this review) which could help to answer this.

The maximum length of time a specimen should sit in the preservative (in field) is an important variable where standardisation of methodologies across different trapping methods could be made. This could be investigated in the field using replicate Malaise, pitfall and vane traps that would need to be set up at several sites and samples collected after appropriate amounts of time (day(s) to weeks). Shorter sampling times could be trialled however, they are not always realistic when it comes to surveyor availability for setting up and collecting samples (Leatherland, D. personal communication). A study such as this could provide information on the size of the catch which could inform the decision on how long to sample for - although different sizes of sampling pots/bottles could be used where there was the potential for overfilling.

DNA extraction: There was consensus for DNA extraction methods. Many of the studies (28) used the Qiagen DNeasy blood and tissue kit (Qiagen) which has been recommended for eukaryotic biodiversity studies (Diener *et al.* 2015). Although 46 other studies did not use the Qiagen kit (the remainder did not state the DNA extraction method) they used a variety of other methods with no single method being used more than a handful of times. This is a potential strength of the existing studies as DNA extraction is therefore not a variable requiring further study, allowing a more direct comparison of the studies stated that they had performed quantification of DNA after extraction. If this was combined with DNA fragmentation analysis using gel electrophoresis it could be used as a measure of success of DNA preservation.

Despite the consensus on the DNA extraction step itself, there were a variety of methods used to present the sample for DNA extraction. Comparison of destructive methods such as grinding the sample in liquid nitrogen; bead beating; or homogenising with a mortar and pestle should be compared with non-destructive methods for example tissue lysis or using the ethanol preservative directly to find the best way to present samples for DNA extraction. Methods used for barcoding (using a leg or other part of the specimen) may not be easily achievable for bulk specimens being used for community analysis (metabarcoding). Additionally, for bulk samples, an investigation of size sorting could be carried out to find the optimal number of size groupings to give best coverage of the community and how best to pool these groupings back together (if at all) for metabarcoding.

Few studies found during the literature review provided information on the DNA yield. DNA yield per dry weight of specimen could be calculated per sample to determine the effect of the preservative on the total yield of DNA per specimen and again any trend (decrease in amount of DNA extracted for example) over time could be assessed over multiple replicate DNA extractions using several biological replicates per timepoint. To test the amount of DNA extracted, DNA quantification should be performed for example using a Qubit fluorometer (ThermoFisher) and a check of DNA purity made using an A₂₆₀/A₂₈₀ absorbance measurement. As mentioned previously, the use of low percentage agarose gel electrophoresis could check for the integrity of high molecular weight genomic DNA. Field controls would also be required for comparison, for example hand collected samples that are kept live until DNA extraction to represent a 'no degradation' sample

and/or samples collected in soapy water for the same durations as the test samples to represent a 'no preservative' sample (killing specimens only) with potentially the highest level of degradation.

Biotic and abiotic factors: One of the questions asked during this literature review was whether the studies gave any information on biotic or abiotic conditions, in the 88 articles reviewed only three recorded this information (Kortmann et al., 2021; Lucas et al., 2016; Villalta et al., 2021). This information can contribute to the choice of preservative. For example, in hot and arid locations ethanol filled traps might dry out if left too long requiring the use of higher volumes of ethanol/regular refilling (adding to the expense of sampling) or shorter sampling regimes. Propylene glycol is far less volatile with an evaporation rate >500 times lower than ethanol (Moreau et al., 2013). Propylene glycol filled traps can therefore be used over several weeks or months (Hohbein and Conway 2018; Rubink et al., 2003). On the other hand, propylene glycol is susceptible to decomposition upon long term UV exposure (Nakahama et al., 2019). It has also been suggested that samples collected in propylene glycol should be thoroughly washed of the glycol preservative before long-term preservation in ethanol as it is possible that it could prevent ethanol from fully penetrating specimens for preservation (Ballare et al., 2019). This study also found that vane trap specimens with no preservative (dry) in high temperatures of up to 40°C often had the best level of preservation. It is thought that the high temperatures may have quickly dried specimens leading to the preservation of higher quality DNA. Rainfall can also play a part in choice of preservative; for example, concentrations of propylene glycol as low as 20% have been shown to be sufficient for preserving DNA over long periods of time (Ferro and Park 2003). This suggests that if 50%-100% propylene glycol was used within pitfall traps and there was dilution from rainfall the DNA should still be sufficiently preserved (Higgins, 2019).

It is unclear how much of an effect biotic and abiotic factors have on sampling as very few studies provided any relevant information. Clearly sampling at different times of year will result in differing conditions (temperature, rainfall). Samples also need to be collected during the months of May-September when adults are likely to be present. Optimal sampling durations could therefore be different depending on the time of year for the different trapping methods. This could vary depending on the preservative used, for example in the warmer summer months if ethanol was being used as the trapping preservative it may be recommended that sampling durations are shorter than in the cooler months or that the ethanol needs to be replaced/topped up at shorter intervals. It is also possible that the optimal trapping preservative may be different at different times of the year or for the type of trap being used due to the different taxa that are collected by the different methods.

In terms of pitfall traps the substrate that they are deployed into may also play a part in suitability of samples for downstream analysis (Heaver, D., personal communications) and again was not revealed in the literature search. Some substrates such as peat might influence the pH of the preservative as it is not uncommon to find substrate in the traps. At a pH of above 9, DNA can be subject to hydrolysis. A study of traps deployed in different substrates would be simple and inexpensive as the only factor requiring study would be

the pH which could be tested in-field by use of a pH test strip. If certain substrates caused an inflation in the pH of the preservative solution, then such areas could be avoided when performing trapping studies.

Potential sources of error: Where cross-contamination of sampling equipment might be an issue, for example metabarcoding, it has been recommended that single use new or decontaminated equipment should be used. Decontamination with 10% bleach for at least 10 minutes is a simple and effective method (Prince and Andrus, 1992) and remaining bleach can be removed with sterilised water or ethanol (Liu *et al.* 2020b). The use of a field negative control is strongly recommended in DNA studies (Dickie *et al.* 2018) and are often used in eDNA studies. Most of the studies did not mention the use of field controls. This is more of an issue for metabarcoding studies where they can help to quantify any potential contamination thus increasing confidence in results and therefore, should be recommended.

4.2 Concluding statements

Careful consideration of sampling and storage procedures is required to ensure DNA preservation. It is important to consider the cost and practicality of trapping methods, as any standard method needs to be accessible to all parts of the collecting community and not end up being unrealistic, expensive, or field-impractical. Although ethanol was the most widely used preservative within the studies presented, propylene glycol is a good alternative due to its low cost, non-toxicity, non-flammability, and low rates of evaporation. Sampling durations were variable, however, propylene glycol and ethanol preservatives at a range of sampling durations gave high PCR success rates suggesting the preservation of good quality DNA for use within molecular techniques. Post sampling, samples should be stored in ethanol and most studies stored samples at below room temperature to reduce DNA degradation. DNA extraction was one area where a standardised method could be employed although how samples are prepared (destructive or non-destructive) prior to DNA extraction requires further study.

DNA techniques are likely to become a standard tool for measuring ecosystem/community diversity. Conventional sampling techniques will require some adaptation to ensure DNA preservation during the field sampling and storage phases. Future work should be focused on trap design, the choice of preservative, and the sampling duration to enable this.

5. Further Work

5.1 Proposed follow up studies

These costs assume a minimum sampling effort but a statistical evaluation of the numbers of traps required should be carried out prior to any formal submission of project costs.

A. Pitfall traps - Comparison of ethanol and propylene glycol

Propylene glycol appears to be a good alternative to the use of ethanol as preservative for invertebrate traps therefore comparison needs to be made between the two to ensure the preservation of DNA suitable for molecular techniques.

We suggest that a minimum of triplicate replicate traps are set up for each preservative and left for a period of 1 week at a site known to have high invertebrate biodiversity. To investigate the sampling duration parallel traps can also be set up and left for periods of 2, 3, and 4 weeks. Hand collected specimens will be required to act as the 'no degradation' or zero hours sampling duration control. A set of traps containing water will also need to be set up to represent the worst case scenario in terms of degradation. Collected samples should be transferred into ethanol straight away and transported back to the laboratory for storage and molecular analysis. Molecular analysis would include DNA extraction followed by size fractionation and PCR analysis. The DNA yield, quality and PCR success rates would be used as measures of preservative suitability.

This study could be repeated at different times of the year between May and September when adults are most active but would incur a larger cost.

B. Vane/flight interception traps

The study would be the same as A. Pitfall traps, using vane traps/flight interception traps in place of pitfall traps. The cost would be lower if existing equipment was used.

C. Malaise traps

The study would use Malaise traps in place of pitfall traps, and follow A. Pitfall traps. NB the cost of Malaise traps are substantially higher than for pitfall and vane/flight interception traps. The cost would be lower if existing equipment was used.

D. Pitfall trap design

A small study could be carried out to investigate the choice of trap in terms of its design. For example, use of a 'roof', may influence the catch but if it prevents rainwater ingress and subsequent dilution of the preservative it could lead to better preserved DNA for downstream analysis.

We suggest that at a minimum, triplicate pitfall traps are set up with and without 'roofs' with ethanol and/or propylene glycol (dependent on the results of A) and left for 1 or 2 weeks,

ideally when rainfall is expected. The 'catch' can be numerated and identified via traditional techniques to investigate where differences occur and within which taxa, and the quality and yield of DNA and PCR success rate can be investigated via molecular techniques.

List of tables

Table 1. Results returned from a search of various databases and the Google search engine.

Table 2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria used within this review.

Table 3. Summary of the different sampling methods and the preservatives used within them.

List of figures

Figure 1. Example of: A. Malaise trap (© Jo Hackman); B. a pitfall trap (© Adrian Gardiner), and C. a vane trap (© Jon Webb) installed within a hollow in an oak tree.

Figure 2. Flow chart showing the steps involved in invertebrate sampling and DNA analysis.

Figure 3. The collection of the literature to be reviewed.

Figure 4. Bar chart showing the length of time that samples were left in the traps prior to sample collection.

Bibliography

AMAN-ZUKI, A., MOHAMMED, M.A., MD-ZAIN, B.M., YAAKOP, S. (2019). Phylogenetic relationships of five Oriental Apanteles species-groups(Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Microgastrinae) by concatenating four molecular markers. Journal of Asia-Pacific Entomology, 22: 341-352. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aspen.2019.01.012</u>

ANGELELLA, G.M., MICHEL, A.P., KAPLAN, I. (2019). Using host-associated differentiation to track source population and dispersal distance among insect vectors of plant pathogens. Evolutionary Applications, 12: 692-704. DOI: 10.1111/eva/12733

AAGAARD, K., BERGGREN, K., HEBERT, P.D.N., SONES, J., MCCLENAGHAN, B., EKREM, T. (2017). Investigating suburban micromoth diversity using DNA barcoding of malaise trap samples. Urban Ecosyst, 20: 353-361. DOI: 10.1007/s11252-016-0597-2

ARIF, M.M.J., NORASHIRENE, M.J., KHAIRIYAH, M.H.S., NICHOLAS, A.S., AMAN, A.Z., ABDUL-LATIFF, M.A.B., AIFAT, N.R., YAAKOP, S., YUSOF, M.D.F.Z. (2014). Initial study of social vespid wasps by using molecular approach of 28S region. Serangga, 19(1): 51-61.

ARIF, M.M.J., NORASHIRENE, M.J., KHAIRIYAH, M.H.S., NICHOLAS, A.S., ABDUL-LATIFF, M.A.B., AMAN, A.Z., AIFAT, N.R., YAAKOP, S., YUSOF, M.D.F.Z. (2015). Phylogeny study of social vespid wasps inferred from cytochrome oxidase I (CO1) locus. Malays Appl Biol, 44(3): 43-47. DOI:

https://jms.mabjournal.com/index.php/mab/article/view/1966

BAIRD, D. J., PASCOE, T. J., ZHOU, X., & HAJIBABAEI, M. (2011). Building freshwater macroinvertebrate DNA-barcode libraries from reference collection material: formalin preservation vs specimen age. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, 30(1), 125–130. DOI: <u>https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/abs/10.1899/10-013.1</u>

BALLARE, K.M., POPE, N.S., CASTILLA, A.R., CYSSER, S, METZ, R.P., JHA, S. (2019). Utilizing field collected insects for next generation sequencing: Effects of sampling, storage, and DNA extraction methods. Ecology and Evolution, 9: 13690-13705. DOI: 10.1002/ece3.5756

BALLARE, K.M., JHA, S. (2021). Genetic structure across urban and agricultural landscapes reveals evidence of resource specialization and philopatry in the Eastern carpenter bee, Xylocopa virginica L. Evolutionary Applications, 14: 136-149. DOI: 10.1111/eva.13078

BLAGOEV, G.A., NIKOLOVA, N.I., SOBEL, C.N., HEBERT, P.D.N., ADAMOWICZ, S.J. (2013). Spiders (Araneae) of Churchill, Manitoba: DNA barcodes and morphology reveal high species diversity and new Canadian records. BMC Ecology, 13: 44. DOI: <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6785/13/44</u>

BLASCHKE, J.D., STIREMAN, J.O., O'HARA, J.E., CERRETTI, P., MOULTON, J.K. (2018). Molecular phylogenetics and piercer evolution in the bug-killing flies (Diptera: Tachinidae: Phasiinae). Systematic Entomology, 43:218-238. DOI: 10.1111/syen.12272

BOONTOP, Y., SCHUTZE, M., CLARKE, A., CAMERON, S., KROSCH, M. (2017). Signatures of invasion: using an integrative approach to infer the spread of melon fly, Zeugodacus cucurbitae (Diptera: Tephritidae), across Southeast Asia and the West Pacific. Biological Invasions, 19(5): 1597-1619. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-017-1382-8</u>

BRANDON-MONG, G-J., GAN, H-M., SING, K-W., LEE, P-S., LIM, P-E., WILSON, J-J. (2015). DNA metabarcoding of insects and allies: an evaluation of primers and pipelines. Bulletin of Entomological Research, 105: 717-727. DOI:10.1017/S0007485315000681

BROWN, S.D.J., ARMSTRONG., K.F., CRUICKSHANK, R.H (2012). Molecular phylogenetics of a South Pacific sap beetle species complex (Carpophilus spp., Coleoptera: Nitidulidae). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution, 64: 428-440. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2012.04.018</u>

CAREW, M. E., METZELING, L., ST CLAIR, R., & HOFFMANN, A. A. (2017). Detecting invertebrate species in archived collections using next-generation sequencing. Molecular Ecology Resources, 17(5), 915–930. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12644</u>

CORRIVEAU, M., UPPSTROM, K., KLOMPEN, H. (2010). Effects of eight storge modes on DNA preservation. Trends in Acarology Proceedings of the 12th International Congress. CDOI: 10.1007/978-90-481-9837-5_95

DE ARAUJO, C.C., SCHMIDT, S., SCHMIDT, O., VON RINTELEN, T., UBAIDILLAH, R., BALKE, M. (2018). The Mt Halimun-Salak Malaise Trap project - releasing the most species rich DNA Barcode library for Indonesia. Biodiversity Data Journal 6: e29927. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3897/BDJ.6.e29927

DEHARVENG, L., BEDOS, A., DAUGERON, C., VILLEMANT, C. (2015). Organization, usefulness and limitations of an ATBI (All Taxa Biodiversity Inventory): the inventory of terrestrial invertebrates in the Mercantour National Park in DAUGERON C., DEHARVENG L., ISAIA M., VILLEMANT C. & JUDSON M. (eds), Mercantour/Alpi Marittime All Taxa Biodiversity Inventory. Zoosystema 37 (1): 9-30. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5252/z2015n1a1</u>

DEINER, K., WALSER, J.-C., MÄCHLER, E., ALTERMATT, F. (2015). Choice of capture and extraction methods affect detection of freshwater biodiversity from environmental DNA. Biological Conservation, 183, 53–63. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.018

DEWAARD, J.R., LEVESQUE-BEAUDIN, V., DEWAARD, S.L., IVANOVA, N.V., MCKEOWN, J.T.A.,...HEBERT, P.D.N. (2019a). Expedited assessment of terrestrial arthropod diversity by coupling Malaise traps with DNA barcoding. Genome, 62: 85-95. DOI: dx.doi.org/10.1139/gen-2018-0093

DEWAARD, J.R., RATNASINGHAM, S., ZAKHAROV, E.V., BORISENKO, A.V., STEINKE, D.,...HEBERT, P.D.N. (2019b). A reference library for Canadian invertebrates with 1.5 million barcodes, voucher specimens, and DNA samples. Scientific Data, 6: 308. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-019-0320-2</u>

DICKIE, I.A., BOYER, S., BUCKLEY, H.L., DUNCAN, R.P., GARDNER, P.P., HOGG, I.D. ET AL., (2018). Towards robust and repeatable sampling methods in eDNA-based studies. Molecular Ecology Resources, 18, 940–952.

DOPHEIDE, A., L. K. TOOMAN, S. GROSSER, B. AGABITI, B. RHODE, D. XIE, M. I. STEVENS, N. NELSON, T. R. BUCKLEY, A. J. DRUMMOND, AND R. D. NEWCOMB. 2019. Estimating the biodiversity of terrestrial invertebrates on a forested island using DNA barcodes and metabarcoding data. Ecological Applications 29(4): e01877. DOI: 10.1002/eap.1877

D'SOUZA, M.L., VAN DER BANK, M., SHONWE, Z., RATTRAY, R.D., STEWART, R., VAN ROOYEN, J., GOVENDER, D., HEBERT, P.D.N. (2021). Biodiversity baselines: Tracking insects in Kruger National Park with DNA barcodes. Biological Conservation, 256: 109034. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2021.109034</u>

EKREM, T., STUR, E., ORTON, M.G., ADAMOWICZ, S.J. (2018). DNA barcode data reveal biogeographic trends in Arctic non-biting midges. Genome, 61: 787-796. DOI: dx.doi.org/10.1139/gen-2018-0100

ENDO, Y., NASH, M., HOFFMANN, A.A., SLATYER, R., MILLER, A.D. (2015). Comparative phylogeography of alpine invertebrates indicates deep lineage diversification and historical refugia in the Australian Alps. Journal of Biogeohraphy, 42: 89-102.

FLOURNOY, L.E., ADAMS, R.P., PANDY, R.N. (1996). Interim and archival preservation of plant specimens in alcohols for DNA studies. Biotechniques, 20(4): 657–660. DOI: 10.2144/19962004657

FRAMENAU, V. (2014). Level 2 short-range endemic invertebrate fauna survey for the Wonmunna Iron Ore Project. Unpublished Report. Phoenix Environmental Sciences Pty Ltd.

GEIGER, M., MORINIERE, J., HAUSMANN, A., HASZPRUNAR, G., WÄGELE, W., HEBERT, P., RULIK, B. (2016) Testing the Global Malaise Trap Program – How well does the current barcode reference library identify flying insects in Germany? Biodiversity Data Journal 4: e10671. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3897/BDJ.4.e10671</u>

GERVAN, C.A., GARDNER, W.C., BOTTOS, E.M., VAN HAMME, J.D., HIGGINS, R.J. AND FRASER, L.H. (2020). Invertebrate response to mine reclamation (south-central British Columbia): the effects of reclamation age on arthropod assemblages; in Geoscience BC Summary of Activities 2019: Minerals, Geoscience BC, Report 2020-01, 159–166. DOI: http://www.geosciencebc.com/updates/summary-ofactivities/.

GIBSON, C.M., KAO, R.H., BLEVINS, K.K., TRAVERS, P.D. (2012). Integrative Taxonomy for Continental-Scale Terrestrial Insect Observations. PLoS ONE 7(5): e37528. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037528

GOSSNER, M.M., STRUWE, J-F., STURM, S., MAX, S., MCCUTCHEON, M., WEISSER, W.W., Zytynska, S.E. (2016). Searching for the Optimal Sampling Solution: Variation in

Invertebrate Communities, Sample Condition and DNA Quality. PLoS ONE 11(2): e0148247. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148247

GREENSLADE, P., BOUER, S., SHIELDS, M.W., WRATTEN, S.D. (2016). First record of a possible predatory collembolan species, Dicyrtoma fusca (Collembola: Dicyrtomidae), in New Zealand. Austral Entomology, 56: 332-338. DOI: 10.1111/AEN.12240

GRESSITT, J.L., GRESSITT, M.K. (1962). An improved Malaise trap. Pacific Insects, 4: 87-90. <u>http://hbs.bishopmuseum.org/pi/pdf/4(1)-87.pdf</u>

GRUBER, M.A.M., BURNE, A.R., ABBOTT, K.L., PIERCE, R.J., LESTER, P.J. (2013). Population decline but increased distribution of an invasive ant genotype on a Pacific atoll. Biol Invasions, 15: 599-612. DOI: 10.1007/S10530-012-0312-Z

GRANDO, C., AMON, N.D., CLOUGH, S.J., GUO, N., WEI, W., AZEVDO, P., LOPEZ-URIBE, M.M., ZUCCHI, M. (2018). Two colours, one species: The case of Melissoes nigroaenea (Apidae: Eucerini), an important pollinator of cotton fields in Brazil. Sociobiology 65 (4): 645-653. DOI: 10.13102/sociobiology.v65i4.3464

HARDULAK, L.A., MORINIERE, J., HAUSMANN, A., HENDRICH, L., SCHMIDT, S., DOCZKAL, D., MULLER, J., HEBERT, P.D.N., HASZPRUNAR, G. (2020). DNA metabarcoding for biodiversity monitoring in a national park: Screening for invasive and pest species. Molecular Ecology Resources, 20: 1542-1557. DOI: 10.1111/1755-0998.13212

HAUSMANN, A., SEGERER, A.H., GREIFENSTEIN, T., KNUBBEN, J., ORINIERE, J., BOZICEVIC, V., DOCZKAL, D., GUNTER, A., ULRICH, W., HABEL, J.C. (2020). Toward a standardized quantitative and qualitative insect monitoring scheme. Ecology and Evolution, 10: 4009-4020. DOI: 10.1002/ece3.6166

HEBERT, P.D.N., CYWINSKA, A, BALL, S.L., DEWAARD, J.R. (2003) Biological identifications through DNA barcodes. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences. 270, 313-321. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2002.2218</u>

HEBERT, P. D. N., & RATNASINGHAM, S. (2007). BOLD: the barcode of life data system. Molecular Ecology Notes, 7, 355–364. DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-8286.2007.01678.x

HELLER, K, RULIK, B. (2016) Ctenosciara alexanderkoenigi sp. n. (Diptera: Sciaridae), an exotic invader in Germany? Biodiversity Data Journal 4: e6460. DOI: 10.3897/BDJ.4.e6460

HERNANDEZ, D.M. (2020). Debugging metabarcoding for insect biodiversity studies. PhD thesis. Stockholm University.

HIGGINS, I. (2019). Ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) of the Chun T'Oh Wudujut park in eastern British Columbia, Canada, and their use as bioindicators of disturbance. MSc Thesis, University of Northern British Columbia.

HOHBEIN, R.R., CONWAY, C.J. (2018). Pitfall traps: A review of methods for estimating arthropod abundance. Wildlife Society Bulletin 42(4): 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.928

HONDELMANN, P., BORGEMEISTER, C., POEHLING, H-M. (2005). Restriction fragment length polymorphisms of different DNA regions as genetic markers in hoverfly Episyrphus balteatus (Diptera: Syrphidae). Bulletin of Entomological Research, 85: 349-359. DOI: 10.1079/BER2005366

HORN, M.E. (2010). A comparison of pollinator biodiversity between green sapces, industrial areas and residential land-use zones in urban, southern Ontario. MSc Thesis, The University of Guelph.

JURGENSTEIN, S., KURINA, O., POLDMAA, K. (2015). The Mycetophila ruficollis Meigen (Diptera, Mycetophilidae) group in Europe: elucidating species delimitation with COI and ITS2 sequence data. ZooKeys, 508: 15-51. DOI: 10.3897/zookeys.508.9814

KEY, R.S., DRAKE, M., SHEPPARD, D.A. (2000). Conservation of invertebrates in England: a review and framework. Natural England Commissioned Reports, Number 35.

KHALIL, H., AFZAL, M., AQUEEL, M.A., RAZA, A.B.M., KHALIL, M.S., KHALIL, F., SHURJEEL, H.K. (2019). Sarhad Journal of Agriculture, 35(2): 476-490. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.17582/journal.sja/2019/35.2.476.490

KING, J. R., & PORTER, S. D. (2004). Recommendations on the use of alcohols for preservation of ant specimens (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Insectes Sociaux, 51(2), 197–202. DOI: 10.1007/s00040-003-0709-x

KOCH, F., GOERGEN, G., VAN NOORT, S. (2015). The sawflies of Namibia and western South Africa (Symphyta, Hymenoptera). Abc Taxa, 15.

KORTMANN, M., MULLER, J.C., BAIER, B., BASSLER, C., BUSE, J.,...THORN, S. (2021). Ecology versus society: Impacts of bark beetle infestations on biodiversity and restorativeness in protected areas of Central Europe. Biological Conservation, 254: 108931. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108931</u>

KURINA, O., MANTIC, M., SEVCIK, J. (2017). A remarkable new genus of Keroplatidae (Insecta, Diptera) from the Afrotropical region, with DNA sequence data. African Invertebrates, 58: 93-105. DOI: 10.3897/AfrInvertebr.58.12655

LANTERO 2019, E., ORTEGA, M., SANCHEZ-RAMOS, I, GONZALEZ-NUNEZ, M., FERNANDEZ, C.E., RESCIA, A.J., MATALLANAS, B., CALLEJAS, C., PASCUAL, S. (2019). Effect of local and landscape factors on abundance of ground beetles and assessment of their role as biocontrol agents in the olive growing area of South eastern Madrid, Spain. BioControl, 64: 685-696. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10526-019-09974-w</u>

LENG, R., HELLER, K., HUANG, J., YE, L., WU, H. (2018). DNA barcoding of the genus Dichopygina, with a new species from China (Diptera: Sciaridae). Zoological Systematics, 43(1): 18-26. DOI: 10.11865/zs.201802

LIN, X-L., JIANG, K., LIU, W-B., LIU, W., BU, W-J., WANG, X-H., MO, L. (2021). Toward a global DNA barcode reference library of the intolerant nonbiting midge genus Rheocricotopus Brundin, 1956. Ecology and Evolution, 00: 1-12. DOI: 10.1002/ece3.7979

LIU, M., BAKER, S.C., BURRIDGE, C.P., JORDAN, G.J., CLARKE, L.J. (2020a). DNA metabarcoding captures subtle differences in forest beetle communities following disturbance. Restoration Ecology, 28 (6): 1475-1484. DOI: 10.1111/rec.13236

LIU, M., CLARKE, L.J., BAKER, S.C., JORDAN, G.J., BURRIDGE, C.P. (2020b). A practical guide to DNA metabarcoding for entomological ecologists. Ecological Entomology, 45: 373-385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/een.12831</u>

LIU, W-B., YAO, Y., YAN, C-C-., WANG, X-H., LIN, X-L. (2021). A new species of Polypedilum (Cerobregma) (Diptera, Chironomidae) from Oriental China. ZooKeys, 1011: 139-148. DOI: 10.3897/zookeys.1011.59554

LUCAS, M., FORERO, D., BASSET, Y. (2016). Diversity and recent population trends of assassin bugs (Hemiptera: Reduviidae) on Barro Colorado Island, Panama. Insect Conservation and Diversity, 9: 546-558. DOI: 10.1111/icad.12191

LUKIC, M., DELIC, T., PAVLEK, M., DEHARVENG, L., ZAGMAJSTER, M. (2020). Distribution pattern and radiation of the European subterranean genus Verhoeffiella (Collembola, Entomobryidae). Zoologica Scripta, 49: 86-100. DOI: 10.1111/zsc.12392

MALAISE, R. (1937). A new insect-trap. Entomologisk Tidskrift, 58, 148–160.

MARQUINA, D., ESPARZA-SALAS, R., ROSLIN, T., RONQUIST, F. (2019). Establishing arthropod community composition using metabarcoding: Surprising inconsistencies between soil samples and preservative ethanol and homogenate from Malaise trap catches. Mol Ecol Resour. 19: 1516-1530. DOI: 10.1111/1755-0998.13071

MARRONE, F., DEIDUN, A., CURATOLO, T., ARCULEO, M., BRUTTO, S.L. (2014). Species identification of the psammophilous tenebrionid beetles Phaleria acuminata Ku[°] ster, 1852 and Phaleria bimaculata (Linnaeus, 1767) from central Mediterranean beaches: geometric morphometrics and molecular insights from species to population level. Zoomorphology, 133: 71-82. DOI: 10.1007/s00435-013-0205-4

MARTIN, J. E. H. (1977). The insects and arachnids of Canada. Part 1: Collecting, preparing, and preserving insects, mites, and spiders. Hull: Publication 1643, Research Branch, Canada Department of Agriculture.

MAZUMDAR, S., HEBERT, P.D.N., BHUIYA, B.A., MIAH, M.I. (2019). Parasitic Hymenoptera Recovered by DNA Barcoding of Malaise Trap Collection at the Chittagong UniversityCampus, Bangladesh. American Journal of BioScience, 7(6): 94-98. DOI: 10.11648/j.ajbio.20190706.12 MAZUMDAR, S., HEBERT, P. D. N. & BHUIYA, B. A. (2021). Exploring the Aculeata Hymenoptera of Bangladesh by DNA barcoding of Malaise trap collection. Munis Entomology & Zoology, 16 (1): 457-464. DOI: <u>https://www.munisentzool.org/</u>

MCCRAVY, K.W., WILLAND, J.E. (2007). Effects of pitfall trap preservative on collections of carabid beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae). The Great Lakes Entomologist, 40: 6. DOI: <u>https://scholar.valpo.edu/tgle/vol40/iss2/6</u>

MOREAU, C.S., WRAY, B.D., CZEKANSKI-MOIR, J.E., RUBIN, B.E.R. (2013). DNA preservation: a test of commonly used preservatives for insects. Invertebrate Systematics, 27: 81-86. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/IS12067</u>

MOTAMEDINIA, B., SKEVINGTON, J.H., KELSO, S. (2020). Taxonomic revision of Dasydorylas Skevington, 2001 (Diptera, Pipunculidae) in the Middle East. PeerJ 8: e8511 DOI: 10.7717/peerj.8511

NAKAHAMA, N., ISAGI, Y., ITO, M. (2019). Methods for retaining well-preserved DNA with dried specimens of insects. European Journal of Entomology, 116: 486-491. <u>https://doi.org/10.14411/eje.2019.050ORSINI</u>, L., KOIVULEHTO, H., HANSKI, I. (2007). Molecular evolution and radiation of dung beetles in Madagascar. Cladistics, 23: 145-168. DOI: 10.1111/j.1096-0031.2006.00139.x

PHILLIPS, D., MOLOTIEVSKIY, N., MUSETTI, L., JOHNSON, N.F. (2019). A survey of Lampyridae biodiversity, with a focus on Lucidota. Unpublished Poster.

POMPANON, F., COISSAC, E., & TABERLET, P. (2011). Metabarcoding une nouvelle façon d'analyser la biodiversité: Génomique environnementale: faire parler l'invisible. Biofutur, (319), 30–32.

POSTLETHWAITE, J.V. (2016). Biogeography of Chilean bees in the Atacama Desert: with a focus on the boundary between summer and winter rainfall regions. MSc thesis, York University, Canada.

PREVOT, V., JORDAENS, K., SONET, G. & BACKELJAU, T. (2013) Exploring Species Level Taxonomy and Species Delimitation Methods in the Facultatively Self-Fertilizing Land Snail Genus Rumina (Gastropoda: Pulmonata). Plos One 8, DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060736

PRINCE, A.M. AND ANDRUS, L. (1992). PCR: how to kill unwanted DNA. BioTechniques, 12, 358–360.

PYLE, M.N. (2018). Insights into post-glacial colonization of sub-artic environments: Using beetle phylogeny to determine the role of feeding strategy. MSc Thesis. The University of Guelph.

RAMIREZ, M.J., GRISMADO, C.J., UBICK, D., OVTSHARENKO, V., CUSHING, P.E., PLATNICK, N.I., WHEELER, W.C., PRENDINI, L., CROWLEY, L.M., HORNER, N.V. (2019). Myrmecicultoridae, a New Family of Myrmecophilic Spiders from the Chihuahuan Desert (Araneae: Entelegynae). American Museum Novitates, 3930, 24. RAMOS, K., MEIER, R., NUNEZA, O., GROOTAERT, P. (2018). Two new species of mangrove Dolichopodidae from Bohol Island in the Philippines (Insecta: Diptera) and a checklist of the Dolichopodidae of the Philippines. Raffles Bulletin of Zoology, 66: 268-276. http://zoobank.org/urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:2FB52291-CCB3-4143-A906-7B3E536CE0C7

RANJITH, A.P., S.A., QUICKE, D.L.J., KITTEL, R.N., BUTCHER, B.A., NASSER, M. (2017). An enigmatic new genus of Hormiinae (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) from South India. Zootaxa, 4272 (3): 371-385. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4272.3.3</u>

REES, H.C. (2019). The Efficacy of DNA sequencing on samples of terrestrial invertebrates 2018-19. Unpublished Natural England Commissioned Reports

RIAZ, T., SHEHZAD, W., VIARI, A., POMPANON, F., TABERLET, P., & COISSAC, E. (2011). ecoPrimers: inference of new DNA barcode markers from whole genome sequence analysis. Nucleic Acids Research, 39(21), e145. DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkr732

RITTER, C.D. (2020). The pitfalls of biodiversity proxies: Differences in richness patterns of birds, trees and understudied diversity across Amazonia. Scientific Reports, 9: 19205. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.2.17908/v1</u>

RUBINK, W.L., MURRAY, K.D., BAUM, K.A., PINTO, M.A. (2003). Long term preservation of DNA from honey bees (Apis mellifera) collected in aerial pitfall traps. Texas Journal of Science, 55 (2): 159-168. DOI: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10198/2909</u>

RUGMAN-JONES, P.F., SEYBOLD, S.J., GRAVES, A.D., STOUTHAMER, R. (2015). Phylogeography of the Walnut Twig Beetle, Pityophthorus juglandis, the Vector of Thousand Cankers Disease in North American Walnut Trees. PLoS ONE 10(2): e0118264. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118264

SALOKANNEL, J., WAHLBERG, N., VESTERINEN, E.J., MARTINEZ, J., GONZALEZ, M. (2012). A taxonomic study of the caddisfly Oxyethira falcata Morton, 1893 (Trichoptera: Hydroptilidae) using genital morphology and DNA barcoding. Entomologica Fennica, 23: 199-205. DOI: 10.33338/ef.7386

SAMOH, A., SATASOOK, C., GROOTAERT, P. (2019). NGS-barcodes, haplotype networks combined to external morphology help to identify new species in the mangrove genus Ngirhaphium Evenhuis & Grootaert, 2002 (Diptera: Dolichopodidae: Rhaphiinae) in Southeast Asia. Raffles Bulletin of Zoology, 67: 640-659. DOI: 10.26107/RBZ-2019-0046

SANCHES-GARCIA, F.J., GALIAN, J., GALLEGO, D. (2015). Distribution of Tomicus destruens (Coleoptera: Scolytinae) mitochondrial lineages: phylogeographic insights and niche modelling. Organisms Diversity and Evolution, 15: 101-113. DOI: 10.1007/s13127-014-0186-2

SEVCÍK, J., KASPRAK, D., MANTIC, M., FITZGERALD, S., SEVCIKOVA, T., TOTHOVA, A., JASCHHOF, M. (2016), Molecular phylogeny of the megadiverse insect infraorder Bibionomorpha sensu lato (Diptera). PeerJ 4: e2563; DOI: 10.7717/peerj.2563

SIRE, L., YANEZ, P.S., WANG, C., BEZIER, A., COURTIAL, B.,...LOPEZ-VAAMONDE, C. (2021). Climate-induced forest dieback drives compositional change in insect communities that is concentrated amongst rare species. bioRxiv. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.04.21.440751

SKVARLA, M.J., DOWLING, A.P.G. (2017). A comparison of trapping techniques (Coleoptera: Carabidae, Buprestidae, Cerambycidae, and Curculionoidea excluding Scolytinae). Journal of Insect Science, 17(1): 7: 1-28. DOI: 10.1093/jisesa/iew098

SMIT, J., REIJNEN, B., STOKVIS, F. (2013). Half of the European fruit fly species barcoded (Diptera, Tephritidae); a feasibility test for molecular identification. ZooKeys, 365: 279-305. DOI: 10.3897/zookeys.365.5819

SOKOLOVA, Y.Y., SOKOLOV, I.M., CARLTON, C.E. (2010). New microsporidia parasitizing bark lice (Insecta: Psocptera). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, 104: 186-194. DOI: 10.1016/j.jip.2010.03.008

SONODA, S., YAMASHITA, J., KOHARA, Y., IZUMI, Y., YOSHIDA, H., ENOMOTO, T. (2011). Appl Entomol Zool, 46: 81-86. DOI: 10.1007/s13355-010-0011-0

STEIN, E.D., WHITE, B.P., MAZOR, R.D., MILLER, P.E., PILGRIM, E.M. (2013). Evaluatinf ethanol-based sample preservation to facilitate use of DNA barcoding in routine freshwater biomonitoring programs using benthic macroinvertebrates. PLoS ONE, 8: e51273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051273</u>

STOECKLE, B.C, DWORSCHAK, K., GOSSNER, M.M., KUEHN, R. (2010). Influence of arthropod sampling solutions on insect genotyping reliability. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata, 135: 217-223. DOI: 10.1111/j.1570-7458.2010.00977.x

SZCZEPANSKI, W. T., VONDRACEK, D., SEIDEL, M., WARDHAUGH, C., FIKACEK, M. (2018). High diversity of Cetiocyon beetles (Coleoptera: Hydrophilidae) along an elevational gradient on Mt. Wilhelm, New Guinea, with new records from the Bird's Head Peninsula. Arthropod Systematics and Phylogeny, 76(2): 323-347.

TABERLET, P., COISSAC, E., HAJIBABAEI, M., & RIESENBERG, L. H. (2012). Environmental DNA. Molecular Ecology, 21, 1789–1793. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05542.x

TANG, C.Q., CRAMPTON-PLATT, A., TOWNEND, S., BRUCE, K., BISTA, I. & CREER, S. 2018. Development of DNA applications in Natural England 2016/2017. Natural England Commissioned Reports, Number 252.

TELFER, A.C., YOUNG, M.R., QUINN, J., PEREZ, K., SOBEL, C.N.,...DEWAARD, J.R. (2015). Biodiversity inventories in high gear: DNA barcoding facilitates a rapid biotic survey of a temperate nature reserve. Biodiversity Data Journal 3: e6313. DOI:10.38 97/BDJ.3.e6313

THALINGER, B., DEINER, K., HARPER, L.R., REES, H.C., BLACKMAN, R.C., SINT, D., TRAUGOTT, M., GOLDBERG, C.S., BRUCE, K. (2021). A validation scale to determine

the readiness of environmental DNA assays for routine species monitoring. Environmental DNA, 3: 823-836. DOI: 10.1002/edn3.189

THORMANN, N., AHRENS, D., ARMIJOS, D.M., PETERS, M.K., WAGNER, T., WAGELE, J.W. (2016). Exploring the Leaf Beetle Fauna (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) of an Ecuadorian Mountain Forest Using DNA Barcoding. PLoS ONE 11(2): e0148268. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148268

USCANGA, A., LOPEZ, H., PINERO, D., EMERSON, B.C., MASTRETTA-YANES, A. (2020). Evaluating species origins within tropical sky-islands arthropod communities. Journal of Biogeography, 48: 2199-2210. DOI: 10.1111/jbi.14144

VAN DER HEYDE, M., BUNCE, M., WARDELL-JOHNSON, G., FERNANDES, K., WHITE, N.E., NEVILL, P. (2020). Testing multiple substrates for terrestrial biodiversity monitoring using environmental DNA metabarcoding. Molecular Ecology Resources, 20: 732-745. DOI: 10.1111/1755-0998.13148

VILLALTA, I., LEDET, R., BAUDE, M., GENOUD, D., BOUGET, C., CORNILLON, M., MOREAU, S., COURTIAL, B., LOPEZ-VAAMONDE, C. (2021). A DNA barcode-based survey of wild urban bees in the Loire Valley, France. Scientific Reports, 11: 4770. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83631-0

VINK, C.J., THOMAS, S.M., PAQUIN, P., HAYASHI, C.Y. & HEDIN, M. (2005). The effects of preservatives and temperatures on arachnid DNA. *Invertebrate SystematicS*, **19**, 99–104. DOI: <u>https://DOI.org/10.1071/IS04039</u>

WISEMAN, B.H., FOUNTAIN, E.D., BOWIE, M.H., CRUICKSHANK, S.H., CRUICKSHANK, R.H. (2016). Vivid molecular divergence over volcanic remnants: the phylogeography of Megadromus guerinii on Banks Peninsula, New Zealand, New Zealand Journal of Zoology, 43:3, 246-257, DOI: 10.1080/03014223.2016.116709

WOOD, T.J., HOLLAND, J.M., GOULSON, D. (2015). A comparison of techniques for assessing farmland bumblebee populations. Oecologia, 177(4): 1093-1102. DOI 10.1007/s00442-015-3255-0

YEO, D., SRIVATHSAN, A., PUNIAMOORTHY, J., MAOSHENG, F., GROOTAERT, P., CHAN, L., GUENARD, B., DAMKEN, C., WAHAB, R.A., YUCHEN, A., MEIER, R. (2020). Mangroves are an overlooked hotspot of insect diversity despite low plant diversity. bioRxiv. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.17.423191</u>

ZUKI, A.A., MOHAMMED, M.A., MD-ZAIN, B.M., TAAKOP, S. (2018). AIP Conference Proceeding, 1940: 020024. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5027939</u>

ZUNIGA-REINOSO, A., RITTER, B., PREDEL, P. (2021). The colonization of the Puna and Atacama Biogeographic Province by sister clades of Psectrascelis (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae): Synchronous expansion without spatial overlap. Journal of Biogeography, 00: 1-11. DOI: 10.1111/jbi.14123 Natural England is here to secure a healthy natural environment for people to enjoy, where wildlife is protected and England's traditional landscapes are safeguarded for future generations.

Natural England publications are available as accessible pdfs from www.gov.uk/natural-england.

Should an alternative format of this publication be required, please contact our enquiries line for more information: 0300 060 3900 or email enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk.

ISBN 978-1-78354-935-1 Catalogue code: NECR423 This publication is published by Natural England under the Open Government Licence v3.0 for public sector information. You are encouraged to use, and reuse, information subject to certain conditions. For details of the licence visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/opengovernment-licence/version/3.

Please note: Natural England photographs are only available for noncommercial purposes. For information regarding the use of maps or data visit <u>www.gov.uk/how-to-access-natural-</u> <u>englands-maps-and-data</u>.

© Natural England 2022

